IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOSEPH ANTWAN GLENN, CRYSTAL DANIELS, ET AL.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

FILED

NO. 2005-KA-01149-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NOV 2 1 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CRYSTAL DANIELS

APPEALED FROM
THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
ELEVENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
CAUSE NO. 2004-0074-CR2

RICHARD B. LEWIS CHAPMAN, LEWIS & SWAN P.O. BOX 428 CLARKSDALE, MS 38614 (662) 627-4105 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated in the Central Mississippi Correctional Facility in Pearl, Mississippi. The Appellant was sentenced on May 19, 2005 to serve a term of 5 years in an institution under the direction and control or the Department of Corrections on Count I, Conspiracy to commit Armed Robbery and 20 years in an institution under the direction and control or the Department of Corrections on Count II, Attempted Armed Robbery. Any and all sentences were ordered to run consecutive with the sentence in Count I for a total of 25 years. (R.E.15-17)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. APPELLANT CONTENDS THE DEFENDANT'S INDICTMENT WAS DEFECTIVE AND MOVES TO VACATE HER CONVICTION BASED ON THE STATE'S FAILURE TO SET OUT WITH CERTAINTY WITHIN THE INDICTMENT THE SPECIFIC CONDUCT THAT THE STATE ASSERTS TO BE THE OVERT ACT UNDERTAKEN BY DEFENDANT.

- II. IN APPELLANT CONTENDS THE COURT ERRED OVERRULING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND SUBSEQUENT FOR JUDGEMENT NON OBSTANTE VERDICTO OR ALTERNATIVELY FOR A NEW TRIALS SINCE THE VERDICTS IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND NOT SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.
- III. APPELLANT RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL THROUGHOUT THE TRIAL STAGES OF THIS CASE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant was indicted on the 21th day of September, 2004, for one count of conspiracy to commit armed robbery, and for one count of armed robbery which occurred on or about July 8, 2004, in Merigold, Bolivar County, Mississippi. (R.E. 11-12) The Defendant was arraigned and represented by the Honorable Martin Kilpatrick. A trial was had on or about May 9-11, 2005. (R). A jury was empaneled and a verdict returned in finding the Defendant guilty of both counts (conspiracy to commit armed robbery and attempted armed robbery). (R.E. 13-14) In Count I, the Appellant was sentenced to 5 years in an institution under the direction and control or the Department of Corrections. In Count II, the Appellant was sentenced to 20 years in an institution under the direction and control or the Department of Corrections with any and all counts to run consecutive to Count I for a total of 25 years. (R.E. 15-17) The Appellant filed a Motion for Judgment Non Obstante Verdicto Or Alternatively For A New Trial which was denied on or about June 14, 2005. (R.E. 20). It is from this conviction and denial of a new trial that the Defendant, Appellant herein, brings her timely appeal.

The State presented proof that on July 8, 2004 the Appellant and Co-defendants entered the Cleveland State Bank and allegedly attempted to rob bank employees, Mary Ann Tribble (R. 222-

243), Donnell Hogan (R. 1-65) and Janet Free (R. 205-221), at gunpoint. The primary witnesses were the bank employees, Mary Ann Tribble, Donnell Hogan and Janet Free, as well as Joe Smith, Frazier Nash, Charles Gilmer and Mike Thompson, all employees of the Bolivar County Sheriff's Department and Dennis Waldo, Delta Services Bank Security. (R.) There was proof presented that defendants Lewis Green, Crystal Daniels and Gregory Smith entered the Cleveland State Bank dressed in the opposite sex as defendant Joseph Antwann Glenn remained as a driver in a vehicle outside the bank. (R. 1-65, 205-243,) After apparently asking to open a checking account, Defendant Lewis Green allegedly pulled a gun and informed employees, Mary Ann Tribble, Donnell Hogan and Janet Free, not to move. (R.1-65, 205-243) After Defendant Lewis Green pulled a gun, security guard Donnell Hogan pulled his gun and shots were fired between both Mr. Green and Mr. Hogan. (R.1-65, 205-243). Mr. Hogan and Mr. Green both sustained gun shot wounds, although none were lethal. (R.1-65, 140-160). Ms. Daniels along with the other Co-Defendants fled the scene and authorities were notified. (R. 1-65, 205-243) Police were given information of a vehicle, a gold jeep, that may have been involved with the robbery. (R.129-137) As officers began searching the surrounding areas, a gold jeep was stopped with Crystal Daniels as a passenger and Joseph Antwann Glenn as the driver. (R.129-137) The other Co-Defendants were arrested at an abandoned house in Bolivar County. Crystal Daniels and Joseph Antwann Glenn were taken to the Cleveland State Bank where Joseph Antwann Glenn was identified by the bank employees as one of the bank robbers. (R.137-181) All three witnesses were able to identify the Appellant, Crystal Daniels as one of the robbers in the armed robbery at trial. (R.1-65, 205-243)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant contends that the conviction should be vacated based on the State's failure to set

out with certainty within the indictment the specific conduct that the State asserts to be the overt act undertaken by Defendant. The State cannot cure an improper indictment for attempt by giving notice to Defendant through testimony or physical evidence introduced at trial. Also, the crime of attempt is a specific intent crime and that the State failed to prove at trial that Ms. Daniels specifically intended to commit attempted armed robbery. Further, the Appellant did not commit any overt act to assist in the crime of attempted armed robbery. Appellant contends that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence based on the testimony of Co-Defendant Lewis Green she should have been found not guilty. (R.261-364) Co-Defendant, Lewis Green testified at trial that Crystal Daniels, the Appellant, had no knowledge of his intentions to rob the Cleveland State Bank. (R.261-364) Mr. Green testified that while at Crystal Daniels' residence he persuaded Ms. Daniels, Joseph Antwann Glenn and Gregory Smith to help him play a prank on a friend by dressing in the opposite sex. (R.261-364) Mr. Green also testified that after leaving the residence in his vehicle he asked Ms. Daniels and Mr. Smith to go inside the Cleveland State Bank so he could cash a check. Mr. Green testified that Ms. Daniels had no knowledge of his intentions to rob the bank and believed that he was going into the bank simply to cash a check. (R.261-364) Further, Mr. Green never stated the Appellant did any overt act to further the crime of attempted armed robbery. (R.261-364) Mr. Green testified that there was no plan or agreements to commit bank robbery made between himself and any of the Co-Defendants including Appellant Crystal Daniels. (R.261-364) Appellant also contends that the State failed to prove that there was a conspiracy between Ms. Daniels and any of the co-defendants or any other party to commit armed robbery and therefore the verdict of guilt as to both counts is a against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Appellant also contends that the verdict is the result of ineffective assistance of counsel, based on Appellant's trial attorney failing

to question any witnesses of the prosecution and only questioned the Co-Defendant, Lewis Green, when he took the stand. (R. 261-364) That as a result of her trial counsel's ineffectiveness her theory of defense was not properly presented to the jury. Appellant asks that the jury's guilty verdict be vacated on grounds related to the weight of evidence, so that she might be re-tried. Appellant contends her convictions should be reversed and that she be granted a new trial as to both counts.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT CONTENDS THE DEFENDANT'S INDICTMENT WAS DEFECTIVE AND MOVES TO VACATE CONVICTION BASED ON STATE'S FAILURE TO SET OUT WITH CERTAINTY WITHIN THE INDICTMENT THE SPECIFIC CONDUCT THAT THE STATE ASSERTS TO BE THE OVERT ACT UNDERTAKEN BY DEFENDANT.

Appellant contends that her conviction for attempted armed robbery should be vacated based on the State's failure to set out with certainty within the indictment the specific conduct that the State asserts to be the overt act undertaken by Defendant. There can be no doubt that some overt act aimed at the accomplishment of the intended crime is an essential element of a charge of attempt. White v. State, 851 So.2d 400, 403 (Miss. App., 2003) The statute establishing attempt as a crime provides that "[e]very person who shall design and endeavor to commit an offense, and shall do any overt act toward the commission thereof, but shall fail therein, or shall be prevented from committing the same ..." may be punished appropriately. Id. (Citing Miss.Code Ann. § 97-1-7 (Rev.2000) (emphasis added). The Mississippi Supreme Court has firmly established that, in order to indict for an attempt, the indictment must set out with certainty the specific conduct that the State asserts to be the "overt act" undertaken by the defendant. Id. (Citing Maxie v. State, 330 So.2d 277, 278 (Miss.1976) The evident purpose for this rule is the underlying general principle that one accused of a crime is entitled to know the specific nature of the allegations against him so that he can

prepare his defense, rather than be left guessing as to what specific activity the State contends is a violation of the criminal statute. However, even though the necessity for a plain statement of the facts relied upon by the State has its foundation in the concept of adequate notice to the defendant of the nature of the allegations against him, the State may not avoid the requirement by showing that the defendant had actual notice from some other source of the specific nature of the State's allegations. **Id.** (Citing **Hawthorne v. State**, 751 So.2d 1090, 1095 (Miss. App.1999). There is no acceptable substitute or cure in the law for an indictment that omits the essential charging information.

Crystal Daniels' indictment does not set out with any certainty in a plain statement of the facts the "overt act" that set out the specific conduct that the State asserts to be undertaken by Crystal Daniels at the Cleveland State Bank and/or against its employees, thus rendering the indictment void. (See Maxie, 330 So.2d at 278) (See R.E. 11-12) Because of the nature of the defect in the indictment, it cannot be the subject of waiver by failure to raise the issue prior to trial.

Id. Failure to demur or otherwise object to the validity of the indictment on the ground appearing in this case does not constitute a waiver or invoke considerations of estoppel to raise the issue post-conviction without distinction as to whether the failure to raise the issue at an earlier stage was purposeful or based on lack of knowledge of the applicable law. (See Durr v. State, 446 So.2d 1016, 1017 (Miss. 1984); Hawthorne, 751 So.2d at 1095)

From a review of the record, including the instructions given to the jury, it is apparent that the State considered both Ms. Daniels' act of dressing as the opposite sex and her allegedly giving instructions to the other co-defendants as well as Mr. Green's exhibition of a deadly weapon as an overt act in furtherance of the crime of armed robbery. The State further appeared to contend that

Ms. Daniels was thwarted in that purpose when security guard, Donnell Hogan exhibited his weapon and began firing. After a review of the indictment, the State has failed to draft the indictment to include what overt act or acts allegedly were done by Ms. Daniels in the alleged commission of the crime. Thus, the indictment is totally void and the conviction should be set aside. This may explain why the record is totally devoid of any evidentiary proof of any overt act by the Appellant which aided and abetted Mr. Green, who did attempt to rob the bank.

The missing critical elements from an indictment may not be supplied by proof presented at trial or by jury instructions that adequately set out the essentials of the charged crime. (See White v. State, 851 So.2d 400, 404 (Miss. App.2003) The State called witness Mary Ann Tribble to testify that Ms. Daniels appeared to be giving "signals" to the other co-defendants. (R 226-230) Testimony was given to show Ms. Daniels and other co-defendants had dressed in the opposite sex as well as Mr. Green exhibiting a gun and allegedly telling everyone to "not move". This testimony does not cure the improper indictment and does not show any evidentiary proof of an overt act by the Appellant and certainly shows no specific intent to commit the crime of Armed Robbery.

II. APPELLANT CONTENDS THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND SUBSEQUENT MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT NON OBSTANTE VERDICTO OR ALTERNATIVELY FOR A NEW TRIAL SINCE THE VERDICTS ARE AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND NOT SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.

Appellant contends that both verdicts finding the Appellant guilty of conspiracy and attempted armed robbery are against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Taking the testimony of all the witnesses as a whole, Appellant asserts that her Motions For Directed Verdicts and Subsequent Motions for Judgment Non Obstante Verdicto should have been sustained because in

taking all the evidence into light, the most favorable to the State, the State has failed to meet his burden of proof in this case. The basic standard of review of the sufficiency of evidence to support a criminal conviction is set out in <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 99 Supreme Court 2781, 61 Lawyers Ed. Second 560 (1979). When reviewing a case for sufficiency of the evidence, "the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Bush v. State</u>, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005) (quoting <u>Jackson v. Virginia supra</u>).

Based on <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, the critical inquiry is not simply whether the jury was properly instructed, but also whether the record of evidence can reasonably support a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused committed that act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction (see <u>Bush v. State supra.</u>, quoting <u>Carr v. State</u>, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968). This inquiry does not, in preserving the fact finder's role as a weigher of evidence, require a Court to ask itself whether it believes that the evidence in trial establishes guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The relevant question, as pointed out in this case, is whether after reviewing all the evidence in light most favorable to the government, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Bush v. State</u>, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005)

It is Appellant's contention that the Judge, at the Lower Court level, must require acquittal by sustaining a Motion For Directed Verdict or at least requiring a new trial if reasonable jurors would necessarily have reasonable doubt as to his guilt in this case.

This Court pointed out in May v. State, 460 So.2d 778 (Mississippi 1984) as follows:

In other words, once the jury has returned a verdict of guilty in a criminal case, we are not at liberty to direct that the Defendant be discharged short of a conclusion on our part, that given the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror, could find a reasonable doubt that the Defendant was guilty **Pearson v State**, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss., 1983).

The Motion for New Trial is a different animal. While the Motion for Judgement of Acquittal Not Withstanding A Verdict presents to the trial court a pure question of law, the Motion For A New Trial is addressed to the Trial Court's sound discretion Neal vs. State, 451 So.2d 743, 760, (Miss. 1984) when he moves for a new trial, a Defendant in a criminal case necessarily invokes Rule 10.05 of our Circuit and County Court Rules which in pertinent part provides:

The Court on written notice of the Defendant may grant a new trial on any of the following grounds:

- (1) If required in the interest of justice;
- (2) If the verdict is contrary to law or the weight of the evidence;...

As distinguished from the J.N.O.V. Motion, here the Defendant is not seeking final discharge. He is asking that the jury's guilty verdict be vacated on grounds related to the weight of the evidence, not it's sufficiency, and may be retired consistent with the double jeopardy clause, <u>Tibbs v. Florida</u>, 457 U.S. 31,39, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 2217, 72 L. Ed. 2d. 652, 659-60 (1982). The trial court will only disturb a jury when "it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction unconscionable injustice." <u>Bush v. State</u> supra., quoting <u>Herring v. State</u>, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). This court acts as a "thirteenth juror" and views the evidence in light most favorable to the verdict. <u>Bush v. State</u> supra., citing <u>Herring v. State</u>, 691 So.2d at 957 (Miss. 1997). A decision to reverse and order a new trial "unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that the acquittal was the only proper verdict. <u>Bush v. State</u>, quoting <u>McQueen v. State</u>, 423 So 2d 800, 803 (Miss. 1982)

That, as a matter of law, the motion for judgment of acquittal, not withstanding the verdict, must be overruled and denied and in no way affects and little informs the trial judge regarding his disposition of the motion for new trial. Cases are hardly unfamiliar wherein the Court holds that the evidence is sufficient so that one party or the other was not entitled to judgment not withstanding the verdict but, nevertheless, that a new trial in the interest of justice should be ordered. Hux v. State 234 So.2d 50, 51(Miss. 1970), Quarles v. State 199 So.2d 58, 61 (Miss. 1967); Mister v. State 190 So.2d 869, 871 (Miss. 1966); Yelverton v. State 191 So.2d 393,394 (Miss. 1966); Heflin v. State 178 So.2d 594 (Miss. 1938); Conway v. State, 177 MS. 461, 469, 171 So. 16, 17 (1936), and the court sitting as a

hypothetical "thirteenth juror" disagrees with the jury's assessment of conflicting testimony and therefore believes a new trial is necessary. <u>Bush v. State</u>, 895 So.2d at 844 (Miss. 2005)

A greater quantum of evidence favoring the State is necessary for the State to withstand a motion for a new trial as distinguished from a motion for J.N.O.V. Under our established case law, the trial judge should set aside a jury's verdict only when, in the exercise of his sound discretion, he is convinced that the verdict is contrary to the substantial weight of the evidence <u>Pearson v. State</u> 428 So.2d at 1364.

Appellant contends that the verdicts are against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, due to the testimony of the Co-Defendant Lewis Green that Crystal Daniels had no knowledge of his intention or his plan to rob the Cleveland State Bank. When testing the legal sufficiency of the State's evidence, the standard of review is as follows: "the court must review the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, accept as true all the evidence supporting the guilty verdict and give the prosecution the benefit of all favorable influences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." See McClain vs. State, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). The court will only reverse when fair-minded jurors could find the accused not guilty. Weltz vs. State, 503 So.2d 803, 808 (Miss. 1987). It has long been a rule that the jury "may give consideration to all inferences flowing from the testimony." Magnum vs. State, 762 So.2d 337 (Miss. 2000). In reviewing the proof as alleged above, Appellant should be granted a new trials as to both counts.

Crime of conspiracy is committed when two or more persons combine or agree to accomplish an unlawful purpose. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 1326 (Miss.,1988) To be found guilty of conspiracy, each conspirator must recognize that he is entering into a common plan with the other, and each must intend to further a common and unlawful purpose. <u>Id</u>. For there to be a conspiracy, there must be recognition on the part of the conspirators that they are entering into a common plan

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