**GREGORY SMITH** 

**FILED** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

FEB 1 3 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2005-KA-1149-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT1
PROPOSITION IA
THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN
SUPPORT OF THE JURY'S VERDICT OF GUILTY TO
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ARMED ROBBERY
PROPOSITION IB
THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN
SUPPORT OF SMITH'S CONVICTION FOR AIDING AND
ABETTING WITH OTHERS IN AN ATTEMPTED ARMED
ROBBERY19
PROPOSITION II
THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN
SUPPORT OF DENYING A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL 22
CONCLUSION24
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE25

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### STATE CASES

Clemons v. State, 460 So. 2d 835 (Miss. 1984)
Echols v. State 759 So. 2d 495, 499 (Miss. App. 2000)
Esparaza v. State, 595 So. 2d 418, 426 (Miss. 1992)
Fisher v. State, 481 So. 2d 203, 212 (Miss. 1985)
Franklin v. State, 676 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss.1996)
Groseclose v. State, 440 So. 2d 297, 301 (Miss. 1983)
Hammond v. State, 465 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Miss. 1985)
Harveston v. State, 493 So. 2d 365, 370 (Miss. 1986)
Jackson v. State, 580 So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Miss. 1991)
Jones v. State , 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994)
McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993)
Neal v. State, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984)
Noe v. State, 616 So. 2d 298, 302 (Miss. 1993)
Shannon v. State, 321 So. 2d 1 (Miss. 1975)
Spikes v. State, 302 So. 2d 250, 251 (Miss. 1974)
Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 807-08 (Miss. 1987)
STATE RULES
Miss. Unif. Crim. R. of Cir. Ct. Prac. 5.16

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**GREGORY SMITH** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2005-KA-1149-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

On May 9-11, 2005, Gregory Smith, "Smith" was tried with others for conspiracy to commit armed robbery and armed robbery before a Bolivar County Circuit Court jury, the Honorable Albert B. Smith presiding. R. 1. Smith was found guilty on both counts and given a five and a twenty year consecutive sentence in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. V. 6; 9-10. From these convictions and sentences, he appealed to this Court. C.P. 198.

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

I.A.

WAS THERE SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE CONSPIRACY VERDICT?

I.B.

WAS THERE SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE ATTEMPTED ARMED ROBBERY VERDICT?

II.

WAS SMITH ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL ON THE ATTEMPTED ARMED ROBBERY VERDICT?

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 21, 2004, Smith was indicted with three other co-defendants, Glenn, Green, and Daniels, for conspiracy to commit armed robbery and armed robbery on or about July 8, 2004 by a Bolivar County Grand Jury. C.P. 1-2.

On May 9-11, 2005, Smith was tried for conspiracy to commit armed robbery and aiding and abetting armed robbery with his co-defendants before a Bolivar County Circuit Court jury, the Honorable Albert B. Smith presiding. R. 1. Smith was represented by Mr. Raymond Wong. R. 1.

Mr. Donnell Hogan, the bank guard at Cleveland State Bank, testified that on July 8,2004 he was shot. He was shot in the right toe. R. 12;15. This occurred during what he believed was a botched bank robbery. Hogan testified to having seen "a gold Jeep" park in front of the bank. It did so on several occasions prior to the events at issue. R. 24. No one exited the car. When he attempted to approach the car to get the license plates, it drove off. R. 24. This was a branch bank in Merigold, a small Delta town. Hogan had seen co-defendant Mr. Glenn inside the bank as "a regular customer" prior to the day in question. R. 46.

On the day of the confrontation, Hogan saw three suspicious people near the bank. They seemed disguised. R. 3-20. They moved together quickly toward the bank. Hogan went in behind them to get a better look. Two had on long black wigs. Two had what appeared to be back packs. R. 4-5. It appeared to be two men crudely dressed as women, and a woman dressed as a man. R. 12. One man, co-defendant Green, inquired about opening a bank account. Green spoke with Ms. Tribble, one of the two female bank tellers in the bank. He did not have a driver's license with him. R. 13. He talked with his disguised woman companion about whether he had a license "in the vehicle." She stood beside him and could be seen conversing with him.

The disguised woman, Daniels, followed a customer leaving the bank to the door, looked

out, and returned to stand beside Green. She spoke to Green, and gave some hand and head signals. R. 13. Green pulled a hand gun out of a purse. He moved toward the guard, and said "stop, don't move." He also fired a shot in his direction. R. 13.

When Green fired, the guard, Mr. Hogan, moved to the side, pulled his own handgun and quickly returned fire. R. 14. Hogan believed some "seventeen shots fired." R. 14. Hogan discovered that he was bleeding from being shot in the toe. R. 15. Exhibit 10 was Hogan's shoe showing bullet holes. Hogan also had a bullet hole in the back of the shirt he was wearing during the shoot out. He was fortunately not hit by the passing bullet. R. 12.

Hogan went to the hospital to have his bullet wound repaired. A suspect was brought in for medical attention. He had been shot. Hogan identified Green as being the person he saw at the hospital. R. 19. Hogan recognized him as the shooter. R. 19. Co- defendant Green claimed that "they made him do that." They allegedly "took his sister hostage." Unless he acted as he did, "they were going to kill his sister." R. 17. Green told Hogan that "he didn't mean to hurt nobody." R. 17.

Hogan identified Ms. Daniels as the female in the bank communicating with Green when shots were fired. R. 19.

Mr. Smith was identified as being the other disguised male in the bank with Green. R. 18-19. He was dressed as woman wearing a brown skirt. He "kept his head down and his hands over his mouth." R. 242. He looked out the window more than once, and communicated with both Green and Daniels while in the bank. R. 240-241. Smith came in the bank with them, and after the shooting was seen leaving with them. R. 1-25. Smith was captured in the woods behind the house where Green was arrested. Smith was wearing no shirt and still had on a skirt. An abandoned woman's "black bra" was found outside the house. R. 149; 332-333.

Ms. Tribble testified that Smith communicated with both Green and Daniels while in the

bank. R. 240-241. She testified that the female, co-defendant Daniels, communicated frequently with Green, the gun man, inside the bank. R. 226; 235. Ms. Tribble also remembered seeing a gold Jeep Cherokee parked near the bank several times with no one ever getting out. R. 236.

Officer Frazier Nash testified that he stopped "a gold Jeep." R. 130. The driver of the Jeep was co-defendant Glenn; the passenger was co-defendant Daniels. R. 132. Nash identified Glenn in the court room as being the person he stopped. R. 132.

Officer Charles Gilmer testified to following "a gold Jeep." R. 138. After the Jeep was stopped, matted grass could be seen stuck underneath the frame. R. 131. After searching the area, an abandoned house with a yard full of tall Johnson grass and weeds was located. There was a mashed down path the size of a vehicle in the front yard leading up to the house. R. 140.

Inside the house was found two backpacks. R. 141. Inside the pink handbag was found two handguns. R. 141. One was a loaded 45 caliber with a box of ammunition and another was a 9 millimeter handgun. Two long black wigs were also found in the house. See photographic exhibit 25(b) and 25© in manila envelop marked exhibits. Another back pack was found that contained "hand cuffs." R. 179.

An individual who ran from the back of the house was apprehended. R. 141. He was identified as being Mr. Green. R. 141. A second suspect was located across a field behind the house. The suspect was wearing a skirt and had no shirt on when captured. This suspect was identified as Mr. Smith. R. 142.

Mr. Glenn was arrested with co-defendant, Ms. Crystal Daniels. R. 204. He was arrested driving the gold Jeep Cherokee. R. 177. Blood was found on the floor board, and a door panel. Some strips of cloth, and a pair of dark sun glasses were present. R. 177-181. Also found in the Jeep was "a brown purse." See state's photographic exhibits 26 (d),(e),(g) and(h). The shooter at the

bank pulled a handgun out of a purse. R. 181.

Ms. Janet Free, a bank teller, identified Ms. Daniels as being the young woman in the bank with two others when the shooting started. R. 212. Mr. Green was identified by Ms. Free as being the person who fired his firearm in the bank. When he pulled out a handgun, he said, "Hold it, do not move." R. 235. Ms. Free and Ms. Tribble identified Glenn as having been a regular customer in the bank in the past. He came to cash his father's check each month. R. 221; 230.

Mr. Green decided to plead guilty to attempted armed robbery and possession of firearm by a convicted felon. R. 252; 259; 311. After advising and questioning him outside the presence of the jury, his pleas were accepted as voluntarily and intelligently entered. R. 259. Green testified that the gold Jeep belonged to his wife who lived in Columbus. R. 263. He testified that he attempted to rob the bank to avoid threats to himself. He was threatened by "Rico." Rico had convinced him to rob the bank to pay an alleged \$2,400.00 gambling debt.

While Green admitted to having prepared a plan to rob the bank, he denied that he revealed this to Smith or any of his co-defendants. According to Green, he lead them to believe that he was going to pull some kind of "prank." R. 269-270. His only explanation for what the prank was that they were dressed up as the opposite sex. R. 270.

Green admitted to being a former Black Gangster Disciple gang member. R. 320. He admitted to being out of prison for about a year. R. 321. He initially denied that he shot Mr. Hogan, claiming he must have shot himself. R. 344. He also admitted that he told FBI agents that he owed Rico \$4,700, rather than \$2,400.00. R. 323. Green admitted that both Glenn and Smith were his cousins. R. 262; 313. According to Green, he had to try to rob the bank to appease the angry gangster, "Rico."

See State's photographic evidence S-26(a) and 26(b) for photo of the back and side view of

a Gold Jeep. R. 20-21. The bank guard, Mr. Donnell Hogan, identified this photo as looking like the vehicle that he has seen parked on a hill near the Cleveland State Bank, the Merigold branch bank more than once. R. 20-21. When he tried more than once to get the license plate number, the car would quickly drive off. R. 20.

Photographic exhibit 25(a) through (g) shows the outside and inside of the abandoned house where Green was apprehended. 25(a) shows the exterior of the house with the tall Johnson grass and weeds grown up around it. 25(b) and 25(c) shows what appears to be blood smears, the two long black wigs along with some plastic gloves and a pack of cigarettes. 25(d), (e) and (f) shows the pink back pack which contained two hand guns, a loaded 45 caliber and a 9 millimeter. 26(e) shows the purse in the back seat of the gold Jeep. 26(c) shows the dark glasses found in the jeep. 26(g) shows a drop of blood on the floor board of the Jeep. 26(h) shows a drop of what appears to be blood on a door panel.

Exhibit 6 (a) through (x) shows the bank crime scene with the many bullet holes in the walls, and partitions, as well as numerous empty shells and some lodged bullets. Exhibit 6(s) shows what appears to be blood splatter in the bank. R. 90. Officers Hogan and Joe Smith testified that the shells and bullets found inside the bank were 45 caliber and 9 millimeter. R. 75-76. State's video exhibit 8(a) shows what occurred while the bungling trio was inside the bank. This is as recorded by bank security cameras.

At the conclusion of the prosecution's case, the trial court denied a motion for a directed verdict for Glenn, Smith and Daniels. R. 192; 247-248.

After being advised of his right to decide to testify or not, Smith decided not to testify. R. 244.

Smith was found guilty and given a five and a consecutive twenty year sentence in the

custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. V. 6; R. 9-10. Co-defendants Green, Glenn, and Daniels were also found guilty of conspiracy to commit armed robbery. C.P. 142. Smith filed a motion for a J. N. O. V or a New Trial, which was denied. C.P. 185-186; 187. From these convictions and sentences, he appealed to this Court. C.P. 196.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1.A. There was credible, substantial partially corroborated testimony in support of Smith's conviction for conspiracy to commit armed robbery. Smith was convicted of conspiracy along with Green, Glenn and Daniels, his co-defendants. It was reasonable to infer from all the evidence that Smith agreed to aid and abet in an attempted bank robbery. They acted together in order to carry out their plan to rob the Cleveland State Bank branch bank of United States currency.

This evidence included testimony about how Smith was disguised, his coordinated actions and communication with both Green and Daniels while in the bank. R. 2-19; 240-242. He communicated with them in the bank, including seeing that a client had left the bank prior to Green's attempt to intimidate the bank guard. R. 240-242. It also included his hiding his face in the bank, as well as how he was apprehended with Mr. Green, the wounded gun man. R. 332-333; 355. Smith arrived at the bank and left the bank with Green, and Daniels. He was disguised as they were.

The record reflects there was an unsuccessful plan to subdue and tie up the bank guard. R. 358. After the attempted armed robbery, Smith hid in an abandoned house with Green, the shooter. He abandoned his "wig" in the house; and his "black bra" in the back of the house. He was found hiding in a ditch without a shirt. R. 149-150; 332-333.

Based upon this evidence, it was reasonable to infer that Smith was not merely present in the bank but was there to assist in robbing the bank of U. S. currency.

1.B. There was credible, substantial partially corroborated evidence in support of Smith's conviction for attempted armed robbery. There was testimony and video screen images showing Smith concealing his face, looking out the window, and communicating with co-defendants Green and Daniels. See exhibit 8(a) bank video made from security cameras inside the Cleveland State Bank in Merigold. R. 240-242; 354-364.. One of the back pack's found with Smith's wig and shoes

contained hand cuffs to assist in their plan to tie up the bank guard. R. 179; 358. Smith was also seen "turning away" from the armed bank guard when he moved closer to the trio. R. 355.. This was just before co-defendant Green tried unsuccessfully to intimidate the bank guard, Mr. Hogan.

When shots were fired, Smith ran out of the bank and was captured in the skirt he wore in the bank and no shirt. R. 332-333. Smith never told police of his surprise at being unexpectedly in the middle of an attempted bank robbery. He has yet to say anything about any "prank." In fact, by abandoning his "black bra" and shirt, Smith's actions indicate that he did not want law enforcement to know he was dressed as a woman. R. 149-150.

In short, record evidence indicates Smith's behavior was not consistent with the assumptions included in the self serving and contradictory testimony of Green. R. 261-364.

2. The Appellee believes there was no need for the trial court to have granted a new trial. There was no "unconscionable injustice" involved in denying the motion for a new trial. As summarized above, there was corroborated testimony, and other evidence, including video screen images in support of affirming Smith's convictions.

It was reasonable to infer that Smith was "hiding out" with Green, the shooter, in the abandoned house. He was captured after fleeing the house in the same skirt he wore in the bank. The wig, shirt and bra he wore in the bank were abandoned there along with the 45 caliber Ruger Green fired in the bank. R. 30.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **PROPOSITION 1A**

# THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE JURY'S VERDICT OF GUILTY TO CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ARMED ROBBERY.

The appellant believes there was insufficient evidence in support of his conviction for conspiracy to commit armed robbery. He believes that there was a lack of evidence that any agreement between himself and Green, the confessed instigator of the attempted bank robbery, was ever reached. There was only evidence that Smith was "merely present" in the bank disguised as a woman as part of an alleged "prank." Appellant's brief page 5-9.

To the contrary, the record reflects there was sufficient evidence for inferring from "the totality of the evidence" presented that Smith agreed with Green, Glenn, and Daniels to assist in the robbing of Cleveland State Bank branch in Merigold. A conspiracy can be inferred to have occurred based upon corroborated "circumstantial evidence."

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